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            Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
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 Pursuant to the Court’s order at Docket 45 and Local Rule 39.2, defendants hereby 

submit the following Trial Brief. 
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Summary 

A. Parties 

Plaintiffs are two individual voters and four organizational plaintiffs. The two voters are 

Mike Toyukak, from Manokotak, Alaska in the Dillingham Census Area and Fred Augustine, 

from Alakanuk, Alaska in the Wade Hampton Census Area. There are no individual voters from 

the Yukon-Koyukuk Census Area. The four organizational plaintiffs are the Native Village of 

Hooper Bay in the Wade Hampton Census Area; the Traditional Village of Togiak in the 

Dillingham Census Area; and the Arctic Village Council and the Village of Venetie Council, 

both in the Yukon-Koyukuk Census Area.  

The named defendants are Mead Treadwell, Lieutenant Governor of the State of Alaska; 

Gail Fenumiai, Director of the Alaska Division of Elections; Michelle Speegle, Region III 

Election Supervisor; and Becka Baker, Region IV Election supervisor (hereinafter collectively, 

“the State” or “defendants”).1 

B. Defenses 

1. The State’s standards, practices, and procedures governing the provision of 

information about registration and voting information to limited-English proficient 

Alaska Native voters in the Dillingham, Wade Hampton, and Yukon-Koyukuk census 

areas is substantially equivalent to those for English-speaking citizens in the state. 

2. The State is in substantial compliance with respect to the implementation of its 

standards, practices, and procedures governing the provision of language assistance 

                                            
1  Although the defendants are sued in their official capacities (See docket 21 at ¶ 16), 
defendants have argued that they are improperly named, because the Voting Rights Act only 
permits an action against a state or political subdivision, and these individual defendants are 
neither (See docket 105 at 4; 28 C.F.R. §§ 55.1 and 55.2). 
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under Section 203 of the VRA and 28 C.F.R. 55 and has taken all reasonable steps to 

implement them. 

3. Under the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, “[t]here must be a congruence and 

proportionality between the injury to be prevented or remedied and the means 

adopted to that end.”2 A legal standard under the VRA that is impossible to meet or 

implement is unconstitutional under the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution because—by definition—it is not congruent and 

proportional. 

I. Designation of pleadings and pre-trial rulings or stipulations by docket number 
 
 Plaintiffs’ live pleading is their Amended Complaint (Docket 21). 

Pre-trial rulings include the following: 

 Docket 119 (Minute Order) 

o State’s Motion Requesting Telephonic Participation of 
Michelle Speegle (Docket 103): GRANTED; 

 
o State’s Motion in Limine to Preclude Testimony of Lieutenant 

Governor Mead Treadwell (Docket 105): GRANTED. 
 

 Docket 126 (Minute Order) 
 

o State’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Docket 47): DENIED; 
 

o Plaintiffs’ First Motion for Summary Judgment (Docket 56): 
DENIED; 

                                            
2  City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507, 520 (U.S. 1997) (applying congruence and 
proportionality review in Fourteenth Amendment cases). Although the Supreme Court has not 
definitively resolved the question for Fifteenth Amendment cases, Nw. Austin Mun. Util. Dist. 
No. One v. Holder, 557 U.S. 193, 204 (2009), lower courts have interpreted the NAMUDNO 
decision as “sending a powerful signal that congruence and proportionality is the appropriate 
standard of review.” Shelby Cnty., Ala. v. Holder, 679 F.3d 848, 859 (D.C. Cir. 2012) cert. 
granted in part, 133 S. Ct. 594, 184 L. Ed. 2d 389 (U.S. 2012) and rev'd, 133 S. Ct. 2612, 186 L. 
Ed. 2d 651 (U.S. 2013) and vacated and remanded, 541 F. App'x 1 (D.C. Cir. 2013). 
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o State’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment (Docket 96): DENIED; 
 

o State’s Alternative Motion to Establish Law of the Case: GRANTED 
in the manner set forth on record. 

 
 Docket 135 (Order on Plaintiffs’ Motions in Limine) 

 
o Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine No. 1 (Docket 50): GANTED IN PART 

and DENIED IN PART; 
 

o Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine No. 2 (Docket 51): GRANTED IN PART 
and DENIED IN PART; 

 
o Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine No. 3 (Docket 52): DENIED; 

 
o State’s Motion for Leave to File Sur-Reply Opposition Motion in 

Limine No. 3 (Docket 83): GRANTED; 
 

o Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine No. 4 (Docket 53): DENIED without 
prejudice. 

 
II. Designation of claims and parties remaining for disposition 

All parties remain for disposition. There are two claims remaining for disposition, as 

follows: 

 Docket 21 at 17: Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action (Violation of Section 203 of the 
VRA); 
 

 Docket 21 at 18: Plaintiffs’ Second Cause of Action (Violation of the Fourteenth and 
Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution). 
 

III. Summary organized by claim of: 

A. Anticipated evidence on liability and damages 

1. Docket 21 at 17: Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action (Violation of Section 203 of the VRA): 

Plaintiffs have the burden of proof on this claim, but the evidence presented in defense of 

Section 203 liability will be in the form of live and telephonic testimony from State 

witnesses, and exhibits. 
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2. Docket 21 at 18: Plaintiffs’ Second Cause of Action (Violation of the Fourteenth and 

Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution): Plaintiffs also have the burden of proof 

on this claim, but the evidence presented in defense of constitutional liability will be live 

and telephonic testimony from State witnesses and exhibits in defense of the position that 

the Division has never intentionally discriminated against a voter in violation of the 

Constitution. 

In defense of Plaintiffs’ claims, the State anticipates offering evidence to establish the 

facts set forth in the attached Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

B. Spreadsheet or itemized list of relief requested, including dollar amounts 
where applicable 

 
Not applicable. 

 
IV. Citations to controlling statutes and cases 

 
 42 U.S.C. 1973aa-1a (Section 203 of the Voting Rights Act); 
 28 C.F.R. 55.1 et seq. (Regulations implementing the Voting Rights Act); 
 U.S. v. Sandoval County, New Mexico, 797 F.Supp.2d 1249 (D. New Mexico, 

2013)3; 
 City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507. 

 
V. Summary of what is most likely to be at issue 

 
At issue will be the nature and implementation of the Division’s Yup’ik and Gwich’in 

language assistance programs; the Division’s liability under Section 203 of the VRA; and 

remedies, if any, to be imposed. Division witnesses will testify regarding the standards, practices, 

procedures for providing registration and election information to voters needing language 

                                            
3  The State includes a citation to Sandoval here only because the Court specifically 
referenced that case in its ruling on record regarding the law of the case for trial. See Transcript 
of Decision on Record at 15. In so doing, the State does not concede—nor does it interpret the 
Court’s order to hold—that Sandoval constitutes binding authority on this Court. 
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assistance, including but not limited to: voting registration, information, instructions, and forms; 

absentee ballot information, instructions, and forms; questioned (provisional) voting information, 

instructions, and forms; polling place posters and voting instructions; sample ballots; information 

in written election pamphlets; advertisements and public service announcements about voter 

registration, absentee voting, and notices of election; election dates, polling place hours, and 

voter registration deadlines; information about what will appear on the ballot; information 

regarding voter assistance; bilingual poll worker training; and verification of translations. 

Division witnesses will further testify regarding implementation of the language assistance 

program, including their relationships and consultations with tribal organizations; work with 

Alaska Native translators; and challenges unique to providing language assistance in remote 

communities in languages spoken by small numbers of voters. 

Also at issue may be what remedies the Court is permitted to impose if the Court finds 

the Division has violated Section 203. Regarding remedies, the Court stated it would welcome 

further briefing here regarding whether “the statute would permit the Court to order the 

preparation of written materials, given the statute’s restriction to only other means with respect 

to the Alaska Natives and American Indians that fall within the component of the second half of 

203(c).”4 The Division believes that the answer to the Court’s question is “no.” 

                                            
4  Transcript of Decision on Record at 19. The Court reiterated this concern in its Order Re: 
Plaintiffs’ Motions in Limine, Docket 135 at n. 11. (“Still undetermined, in the event that 
Plaintiffs demonstrate that Defendants have fallen short under this standard, is whether the 
Court’s remedial authority is limited to directing only additional oral language assistance and 
information. See Voting Rights Act § 203(c), 42 U.S.C. § 1973aa-1a(c) (“Provided, That where 
the language of the applicable minority group is oral or unwritten or in the case of Alaska natives 
and American Indians, if the predominant language is historically unwritten, the State or political 
subdivision is only required to furnish oral instructions, assistance, or other information 
relating to registration and voting.” (bold emphasis added by Court)). 
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Under the plain terms of the proviso, as DOJ has noted, written materials are not required 

in historically unwritten languages.5 While DOJ recognizes that the statute does not require 

written language assistance in historically unwritten languages, both the DOJ and the Nick Court 

have suggested that written materials might help increase the effectiveness of oral language 

assistance. In the Nick case, Judge Burgess stated: 

Because Plaintiffs have failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether 
Yup’ik was a historically written language, the Court GRANTS the State Defendants’ 
motion and holds that the State need only provide oral assistance to Yup’ik speakers in 
the Bethel census area. This ruling does not, however, address or affect the Plaintiffs’ 
argument that the Defendants may need to produce certain written materials in order to 
provide effective oral assistance to Yup’ik voters.6  
 
But in announcing the law of the case for trial in this matter, the Court apparently ruled 

that the experience of voters and the effectiveness of language assistance were not meaningfully 

at issue.7 If this Court finds that the Division has violated Section 203 of the VRA, it may order 

                                            
5  See Docket 121 at n. 3 (“Because of the statutory proviso for historically unwritten native 
languages, the Attorney General has not required written translations of election materials and 
information for oral or unwritten native languages in its consent decrees and agreements. 
However, where a written form of the relevant native languages exists, jurisdictions are free to 
translate information and materials in that written form to supplement its oral translation 
program where it can assist in outreach and training, and to help ensure consistent and accurate 
translations.”). 
 
6  Nick et al. v. Bethel et al., Case 3:07-cv-00098-TMB-MMM-JKS, Docket 319 at 1-2 
(Order Re: State Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, July 23, 2008). 
 
7  See Transcript of Decision on Record at 14. (“[W]here I part ways with the State is that I 
don't see that the assistance that -- the regulation does not say the assistance that's to be provided 
is to enable members to participate effectively. Rather, what the regulation says is that it's the 
objective of the Act's provisions to enable members to participate . . .  what I see is that the 
Congress -- the congressional intent was an objective of enabling members to participate 
effectively in the electoral process and the means of doing it was what was set out in 203(c)”). 
See also Order Re Motions in Limine, Docket 135 at 3-4 (“And yet, as this Court noted in its 
decision on record on the rule of law, one tribal member’s perception as to the effectiveness of 
the oral language assistance provided in that tribal member’s community is of limited relevance 
in this proceeding. Rather, the focus on effectiveness should be on the extent to which 
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remedies necessary to bring the Division into compliance with the statute. But it may not order 

remedies for other purposes. Given that Section 203 expressly provides that only oral assistance 

is required, if effectiveness is not a relevant consideration in determining compliance with 

Section 203, this Court may not order written materials on the ground that they will improve the 

effectiveness of the Division’s program.8  

VI. Summary of issues likely to arise regarding evidence 
 

The issues likely to arise regarding evidence are as follows. 

A. Specific division Records 

As noted in the Court’s Order Re Plaintiffs’ Motions in Limine at Docket 135, “all of the 

Division’s survey responses could be admissible for non-hearsay purposes insofar as relevant to 

this proceeding—such as to demonstrate the efforts undertaken by Defendants to fulfill their 

language assistance responsibilities.”9 The Court noted that “[d]etermination of the responses’ 

admissibility can await trial.”10 Thus, the admissibility of survey responses for relevant, non-

hearsay purposes will be an evidentiary issue for trial. Regarding the Division’s certificates of 

outreach, the Court has ruled that it “will defer a ruling on the admissibility of the certificates 

until after the conclusion of Ms. Baker’s testimony at trial, at which point the Court will better be 

                                                                                                                                             
Defendants are substantially complying with their responsibility to provide substantially 
equivalent election materials in the covered languages to voters in the census-designated 
communities as are provided to English-speaking voters throughout the state.”). 
 
8  The Division continues to believe that the effectiveness of its language assistance 
program should be central to the Court’s inquiry; and that the plaintiffs have failed to offer any 
substantive evidence of voter problems due to lack of or inadequate language assistance. 
 
9  Docket 135 at 3. 
 
10  Docket 135 at 3. See also id. at 5. 
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able to determine whether the requisite elements of the business records hearsay exception have 

been satisfied.”11 Thus, the admissibility of the Division’s certificates of outreach remain 

pending. 

B. Census data 

Also at Docket 135, the Court denied, without prejudice, plaintiffs’ motion to take 

judicial notice of certain census data, specifically a 141-page Special Tabulation. The Court 

ordered that “at trial Plaintiffs may seek to admit the Special Tabulation as a public record under 

Evidence Rule 803(8) and the Court may then address any relevance objections to the tabulation 

that may be asserted.”12 Thus, the admissibility of any or all of the Special Tabulation will be an 

evidentiary issue for trial. 

C. Admissibility of expert and lay testimony 

At Docket 128, the State objected under Federal Rule of Evidence 702 to plaintiffs’ 

expert Professor Daniel McCool, on the grounds that he lacked expertise in the area in which his 

opinion was offered; that he has simply ignored evidence that does not support his opinion; that 

he has not reliably applied the principles and methods to the facts of the case; that his opinion 

goes to the State’s intent, which is quintessentially the sphere of the fact-finder; that his 

testimony is not a proper subject; and that his opinion will not assist the Court. The admissibility 

of Dr. McCool’s expert testimony is an important evidentiary issue for trial, as plaintiffs appear 

to be offering that testimony to support a theory of intentional discrimination on the part of the 

                                            
11  Docket 135 at 8-9. 
 
12  Docket 135 at 8. 
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State. Further, at Docket 136, the State objected to the use of deposition testimony for a lead 

individual plaintiff and a lead institutional plaintiff.  

D. General objections 

While the parties stipulated to the admissibility of a number of trial exhibits during the 

parties’ meeting with the Court’s Exhibit Clerk, Defendants anticipate asserting objections to 

several of plaintiffs’ exhibits. Per the Pre-Trial Order at Docket 45, those objections have the 

same deadline as this brief. Defendants anticipate that the Court will need to rule on the 

admissibility of numerous exhibits proffered by both parties. 

DATED:  June 13, 2014. 
MICHAEL C. GERAGHTY 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

 
By: s/Elizabeth M. Bakalar 
Elizabeth M. Bakalar (Alaska Bar No. 0606036) 
Margaret Paton-Walsh (Alaska Bar No. 0411074) 
Aesha R. Pallesen (Alaska Bar No. 1205021) 
Kevin T. Wakley (Alaska Bar No. 1405019) 
Assistant Attorneys General 
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Certificate of Service 
 

I hereby certify that on June 13, 2014, copies of the foregoing TRIAL BRIEF were 
served electronically on the following parties of record pursuant to the Court’s electronic filing 
procedures: 
 
Natalie A. Landreth & 
Erin C. Dougherty 
Matthew Newman 
c/o Native American Rights Fund 
745 W. 4th Avenue, Suite 502 
Anchorage, Alaska 99501 
landreth@narf.org 
dougherty@narf.org 
mnewman@narf.org 
 

James Thomas Tucker & Sylvia O. Semper 
c/o Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edlemen,  
& Dicker LLP 
300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
james.tucker@wilsonesler.com 
sylvia.semper@wilsonesler.com 

Richard de Bodo 
BINGHAM McCUTCHEN LLP 
1601 Cloverfield Blvd., Suite 2050 North 
Santa Monica, CA 99404-2055 
rich.debodo@bingham.com 
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